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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO 

EASTERN DIVISION 
 
JOHN DOE, 
 
            Plaintiff, 
 
c/o Brennan Manna Diamond, LLC 
Jeffrey C. Miller, Esq. 
200 Public Square, Suite 3270 
Cleveland, OH 44114 
 
v. 
 
ST. EDWARD HIGH SCHOOL, 
13500 Detroit Avenue 
Lakewood, Ohio 44107 
 
c/o TE Agent Corp. 
950 Main Avenue, Suite 1100 
Cleveland, OH 44113 
 
and 
 
NATHAN BRANNEN, 
c/o St. Edward High School 
13500 Detroit Avenue 
Lakewood, Ohio 44107 
 
and 
 
JAMES P. KUBACKI, 
c/o St. Edward High School 
13500 Detroit Avenue 
Lakewood, Ohio 44107 
 
and 
 
KC MCKENNA, 
c/o St. Edward High School 
13500 Detroit Avenue 
Lakewood, Ohio 44107 
 
 
  Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 
 
COMPLAINT 
 
 
 
CASE NO.  
 
 
Honorable   
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Now comes John Doe, on behalf of himself and all similarly situated, and for his Complaint 

against Defendants St. Edward High School, Nathan Brannen, James Kubacki, and KC McKenna 

states the following: 

1. Plaintiff John Doe is a juvenile resident of Cuyahoga County, Ohio, 17 years of age, 

and is a former student of St. Edward High School. 

2. Plaintiff is entitled to anonymity in these proceedings because of his status as a 

juvenile and to mitigate the threat of further reprisals and retaliation against him. 

3. Before, during, and after his enrollment at St. Edward High School, Plaintiff was 

subjected to physical and sexual assaults, harassment, hazing, bullying and retaliation 

from other students associated with the track and cross-country teams.  

4. Defendant St. Edward High School is an Ohio non-profit corporation, sponsored by 

the Brothers of Holy Cross, and operates within Cuyahoga County, Ohio. 

5. Defendant Nathan Brannen was, at all times relevant, an employee of St. Edward 

High School and its Head Coach of the track and cross-country teams. 

6. Defendant James P. Kubacki was, at all times relevant, an employee of St. Edward 

High School and the President of the school and its Board. 

7. Defendant KC McKenna was, at all times relevant, an employee of St. Edward High 

School and the Principal of the school. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

8. Plaintiff’s legal claims are based, in part, on alleged violations of 20 U.S.C. § 1681, et 

seq., its interpreting regulations, and Department of Education/Office of Civil Rights 

policies. Jurisdiction is conferred pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331.  This Court has 
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supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s remaining claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1367.   

9. Venue in this action is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 as a substantial part of the 

events, acts or omissions giving rise to Plaintiff’s claims occurred in this district. 

10. This court has subject matter jurisdiction. 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CLAIMS 

11. In 2019, Plaintiff decided to enroll in St. Edward High School over other options 

available to him based on the representations of St. Edward High School regarding its 

school mission, student life and responsibility, and its commitment to excellence. 

12. The representations were made during Plaintiff’s visits to the school, on its website 

www.sehs.net, and in its publications, including the Student & Parent/Guardian 

Handbook. 

13. Those representations have proven false. 

14. Prior to beginning high school, Plaintiff was an excellent student and a gifted runner 

who excelled in track and cross-country. 

15. Defendant Brannen encouraged Plaintiff to attend a week-long, overnight running 

camp in the summer before his freshman year with older students from St. Edward 

High School who were on the track and cross-country teams.   

16. In July of 2019, Plaintiff attended the NEO XC Camp in Bellville, Ohio and was 

assigned to housing with older St. Edward High School students. 

17. The attendees of the camp were largely left unsupervised. 

18. Over the course of the camp, Plaintiff was physically assaulted in a sexual manner by 

a student of St. Edward High School on three (3) separate occasions. 

Case: 1:21-cv-01077-DAP  Doc #: 1  Filed:  05/25/21  5 of 27.  PageID #: 5



19.  The student, Delinquent 1, was older and physically stronger than Plaintiff. 

20. Each incident was unprovoked.  Delinquent 1 approached Plaintiff, threw him down, 

pinned his arms, and then simulated anal sex upon Plaintiff. 

21. In each incident, other St. Edward High School students were present and observed 

the behavior. 

22. Out of fear and intimidation, Plaintiff did not report the assaults. 

23. Delinquent 1 also engaged in outrageously inappropriate sexual behavior with another 

camp attendee and was caught by a camp representative. 

24. The camp administrators required Delinquent 1 to call his parents to report the 

misconduct; however, Delinquent 1 instead called another family member who 

pretended to be his mother. 

25. Delinquent 1 was then caught boasting to other camp attendees about how he had 

deceived the camp administrators. 

26. The inappropriate behavior of Delinquent 1 was reported to Defendant Brannen. 

27. As of July of 2019, Defendant Brannen knew or should have known that Delinquent 1 

engaged in inappropriate sexual misconduct when left unsupervised and that he 

lacked respect for authority. 

28. In September of 2019, Plaintiff was a freshman at St. Edward High School and a 

member of the cross-country team. 

29. On September 6, 2019, at a team-sponsored pre-meet dinner, Delinquent 1, also a 

member of the cross-country team, followed Plaintiff into the restroom. 

30. In direct view of other St. Edward High School students, Delinquent 1 threw Plaintiff 

to the floor, pinned his arms, and simulated anal sex upon Plaintiff. 
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31. Delinquent 1 and other students then mocked Plaintiff and openly laughed about the 

assault upon returning to the team dinner. 

32. Out of fear and intimidation, Plaintiff did not report this assault. 

33. On or about September 20, 2019, the St. Edward High School cross-county team 

traveled to Dayton, Ohio for a multi-day meet where the team stayed overnight in a 

hotel. 

34. Defendant Brannen assigned the students to rooms, and his supervision then ceased in 

its entirety. 

35. Plaintiff was assigned to a room with three other freshmen students, including 

Delinquent 3 and Delinquent 4. 

36. On September 20, 2019, Delinquent 1 and/or Delinquent 2 instructed Delinquent 3 

and/or Delinquent 4 to leave the door to Plaintiff’s room unlocked. 

37. During the evening of September 20, 2019, Delinquent 1, Delinquent 2, Delinquent 5 

and other older members of the St. Edward High School cross-country team entered 

Plaintiff’s room while Plaintiff was seated on his bed. 

38. Delinquent 1 approached Plaintiff and pinned and held him face down so that he 

could not fight or escape. 

39. Delinquent 1 locked Plaintiff’s arm and otherwise fully restricted Plaintiff’s 

movement. 

40. Delinquent 1 then physically assaulted Plaintiff in a sexual manner, the same as he 

did before, simulating anal sex. 

41. None of the other students intervened, and instead were all heard laughing. 

42. Delinquent 3 filmed the sexual assault with his personal smartphone. 
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43. A copy of the video captured by Delinquent 3 has been preserved and is available for 

inspection. 

44. Delinquent 4 is seen on the video also filming the sexual assault on his personal 

smartphone. 

45. Upon information and belief, Delinquent 2 and other members of the St. Edward 

High School cross-country team also filmed the assault with their personal 

smartphones. 

46. Over the next days and months, members of the St. Edward High School cross-

country team shared videos of the assault amongst themselves, other teammates who 

were not present, and other students at St. Edward High School across social media. 

47. The video of Delinquent 1 holding down and committing the physical, sexual assault 

against Plaintiff became known as “The Rape Video.” 

48. The video was shared for the purpose of humiliating and intimidating Plaintiff and to 

prevent him from reporting the assault. 

49. On or about August 28, 2020, Delinquent 1 and/or Delinquent 2 again shared the 

video among the St. Edward High School cross-country group Snapchat. 

50. Plaintiff’s parents happened to see the video on August 30, 2020.  They preserved the 

video and contacted Defendant Brannen about the need for an immediate meeting of 

utmost importance. 

51. On September 1, 2020, Plaintiff’s parents met with Defendant Brannen and began the 

meeting by informing him that they saw a video of their son being assaulted by 

another member of the St. Edward High School cross-country team. 
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52. After viewing the video, Defendant Brannen informed Plaintiff’s parents that he did 

not need to review the video to know that Delinquent 1 was the perpetrator, and 

referred to Delinquent 1 as “a fucking asshole.” 

53. When Plaintiff’s parents inquired as to why Defendant Brannen would allow an 

unsupervised setting wherein the assault could occur, Defendant Brannen responded 

that he did not want to be responsible for any supervision, and instead only wanted to 

coach the team. 

54. Defendant Brannen informed Plaintiff’s parents that he knew about the sexual 

misconduct of Delinquent 1 at the unsupervised NEO XC camp, which predated the 

assault in Dayton. 

55. Defendant Brannen refused to listen to the audio of The Rape Video, even though 

Plaintiff’s parents informed him that all of the team members were laughing at their 

son. 

56. When Plaintiff’s parents informed Defendant Brannen that they would be taking the 

matter to St. Edward High School administration, Defendant Brannen threatened 

them that a further report could make it worse on their son. 

57. Defendant Brannen attempted to dissuade Plaintiff’s parents from escalating the 

report. 

58. On September 3, 2020, Plaintiff’s parents met at St. Edward High School with 

Defendant Kubacki, Defendant McKenna, Defendant Brannen and others. 

59. By this point, Plaintiff had shared with his parents the details of the assault that was 

captured on video. 
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60. Plaintiff also shared screenshots of disturbing exchanges among the St. Edward High 

School cross-country team. 

61. On September 3 and September 4, 2020, Plaintiff’s parents provided information 

about exchanges and images that had been shared by members of the cross-country 

team.  Specifically, Plaintiff’s parents informed St. Edward High School and the 

individual Defendants with initial proof of the following disturbing social media 

exchanges: 

a. The Rape Video; 

b. Degrading comments against Plaintiff; 

c. Screenshots of Delinquent 1 ranking the next class of incoming freshmen and 

suggesting that they be required to share nude images of themselves; 

d. Bigoted and obscenely degrading homosexual comments; 

e. An audio file of a scene of non-consensual anal sex between two men; 

f. A screenshot showing the sharing and saving of an apparent pedophilic video; 

g. A still image of a boy appearing to kiss a shirtless adult male; 

h. Graphic photos and commentary regarding sexual behavior.  

62. The Rape Video shows a possible Sexual Battery by Delinquent 1, as prohibited by 

Ohio Revised Code § 2907.03 and/or Assault, as prohibited by O.R.C. § 2903.13. 

63. The Rape Video shows possible Sexual Imposition by Delinquent 1, as prohibited by 

Ohio Revised Code § 2907.06. 

64. The Rape Video was filmed by Delinquent 3 and constituted possible Pandering 

Obscenity Involving a Minor in violation of O.R.C. 2907.321 and/or Pandering 

Sexually Oriented Matter Involving a Minor in violation of O.R.C. § 2907.322. 
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65. The Rape Video shows concurrent filming by Delinquent 4, which constituted 

possible Pandering Obscenity Involving a Minor in violation of O.R.C. 2907.321 

and/or Pandering Sexually Oriented Matter Involving a Minor in violation of O.R.C. 

§ 2907.322. 

66. On September 4, 2020, the Dean of Students of St. Edward High School informed the 

cross-country students and their parents via email of the initiation of an investigation 

“to fully understand and bring to light the impact of these types of postings.” 

67. However, on September 4, 2020, at almost the exacts same time as the email, 

Defendants specifically and verbally instructed the students to delete any and all 

imagery, videos, content, and/or exchanges on their smartphones or social media 

before the investigation could commence. 

68. On September 8, 2020, Plaintiff informed Defendants of the other the assaults 

committed by Delinquent 1 at the NEO XC camp, in addition to confirming the 

assault captured in The Rape Video. 

69. At that point, Defendants ceased any further investigation and informed Plaintiff and 

his parents that they would refer the matter for criminal investigation with the 

Lakewood Police Department. 

70. Over the next week, Delinquent 1, Delinquent 2 and other St. Edward High School 

cross-country members continually pressured Plaintiff to lie to investigators and/or to 

create a false story about the assaults. 

71. On September 13, 2020, Delinquent 2 and Delinquent 5 were overheard by Plaintiff 

concocting a story with another team member about how the assault was only a joke, 

and to stick with a story that Plaintiff was voluntarily “wrestling” with Delinquent 1. 
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72. On September 15, 2020, Delinquent 2, who is believed to be a team captain, reminded 

the other team members to delete any evidence of the assault, hazing, or bullying. 

73. On September 15, 2020, Delinquent 5 acknowledged that several versions of The 

Rape Video existed and that it had been shared outside of St. Edward High School.  

Delinquent 5 instructed the other team members to delete all copies of the videos, as 

well as contacting those with whom the videos had been shared. 

74. On September 15, 2020, Delinquent 1 instructed the team members to delete any 

other inappropriate content. 

75. In that same exchanges, Delinquent 2 acknowledged that the assault on Plaintiff was 

not “the first time something like this happened, or the second time, or the third time 

for that matter . . ..” 

76. All of the foregoing information was shared by Plaintiff and/or his parents with 

Defendants.  However, between September 8, 2020 and September 21, 2020, the 

entirety of the investigation of Defendants consisted of asking students leading 

questions about what they saw on the Dayton trip and whether Plaintiff acted upset by 

it. 

77. Defendants placed the investigation into the hands of an individual who was neither 

qualified nor trained to investigate sexual assault, hazing, bullying, or to review the 

social media history and electronic devices of the Delinquents. 

78. Throughout this period, Defendant McKenna continued to lie directly to Plaintiff and 

his parents. 
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79. Defendant McKenna repeatedly assured Plaintiff and his parents that St. Edward High 

School was continuing to cooperate fully with the Lakewood Police Department 

investigation. 

80. Defendant McKenna made this representation to Plaintiff’s parents as late as 

September 21, 2020. 

81. However, as of at least September 16, 2020, the Lakewood Police Department had 

closed any investigation because it did not have jurisdiction over the events that 

occurred in Dayton, Ohio. 

82. From September 19, 2020 through September 23, 2020, Plaintiff and his parents 

repeatedly and specifically informed Defendants that the assaults, the lack of any 

investigation, the continuing harassment and intimidation, and the dereliction of duty 

by Defendants was causing worsening physical injuries to Plaintiff who was 

vomiting, suffering insomnia, and otherwise suffering from post-traumatic stress 

disorder (“PTSD”). 

83. The Defendants determined that not enough evidence existed for any meaningful 

corrective measure. 

84. Delinquent 1 was allegedly suspended from school; however, at that point in time, 

students were permitted to complete school on-line.  He resumed in-person school at 

the end of September or beginning of October of 2020. 

85. Delinquent 3 was allegedly suspended for three days after he admitted to doctoring 

The Rape Video. 
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86. Other students were directed to an on-line class on sexual sensitivity within social 

media, during which they continued to circulate inappropriate text exchanges through 

social media. 

87. Plaintiff stopped attending in-person classes at the end of September of 2020, and 

never resumed in-person classes as a result of the lack of investigation or meaningful 

remedy. 

88. Plaintiff stopped attending St. Edward High School in December of 2020 because of 

the sexual assaults and subsequent bullying, hazing, and intimidation, and the 

Defendants’ failure to investigate or fix the issues. 

89. Plaintiff and his family moved from the area, yet Plaintiff still receives social media 

and text messages from the Delinquents and other members of the cross-country team 

designed to intimidate, harass, and/or humiliate him. 

90. Upon reliable information and belief, Delinquent 1 and Delinquent 2 remain members 

of the St. Edward High School track and cross-country teams. 

91. Upon reliable information and belief, Delinquent 1 continues to engage in obscenely 

misogynistic and bigoted behavior and comments in full view of other team members 

and the coaches. 

92. To date, none of the Defendants have investigated any of the pedophilic exchanges, 

the targeting of in-coming freshman, and have not reached out to Plaintiff in any 

respect since October 14, 2020. 

COUNT ONE – TITLE IX VIOLATION 
(Sexual Assault in Violation of Title IX of the Education Amendments Act of 1972, 20 

U.S.C. § 1681 et seq. Against All Defendants) 
 

93. Plaintiff restates each preceding allegation as if fully rewritten herein. 
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94. Title IX covers a host of conduct that creates a hostile educational environment based 

on sex, including sexual harassment, gender-based harassment, and sexual violence, 

which is a form of sexual harassment that includes rape, sexual assault, sexual battery 

and sexual coercion. 

95. Title IX protects students from sexual violence in connection with all the academic, 

educational, extracurricular, athletic, and other programs of a school, whether the 

programs occur on school grounds, on a school bus, during a field trip, or during any 

other school sponsored events. 

96. Title IX applies to all schools that receive any federal funds. This includes all public 

elementary and secondary schools, private and parochial schools that participate in 

the federal free lunch program or receive other federal funding, and schools that are 

formally affiliated with another school (such as a diocese) that receives federal 

money. 

97. St. Edward High School has received federal funding, including funding for 

broadband services associated with its school and library. 

98. Title IX requires schools to address sexual violence regardless of the sex of the 

complainant or alleged perpetrator, including when they are members of the same 

sex. 

99. Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, codified at 20 U.S.C § 1681 (Title 

IX) provides an avenue of legal relief for victims of sexual abuse and harassment that 

occurred in connection with educational institutions. 

100. Title IX provides a cause of action against a school and its responsible employees 

when their actions are deliberately indifferent to sexual harassment, of which they 
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have actual knowledge, that is so severe, pervasive, and objectively offensive that it 

can be said to deprive the victims of access to the educational opportunities or 

benefits provided by the school. 

101. St. Edward High School, its board, and the individual Defendants are liable under 

Title IX for a deliberately indifferent response to severe, pervasive, and objectively 

offensive student-on-student sexual harassment. 

102. St. Edward High School, its board, and the individual Defendants are liable under 

Title IX as their deliberate indifference has deprived Plaintiff to the educational 

opportunities and benefits provided by the school.  

103. St. Edward High School operations are covered by Title IX. 

104. St. Edward High School had actual knowledge of student-on-student sexual 

harassment and abuse that was severe, pervasive, and objectively offensive, and 

which deprived Plaintiff of access to the educational opportunities and benefits of the 

school. 

105. The response of St. Edward High School was so deficient as to amount to deliberate 

indifference to the harassment and abuse. 

106. The individual Defendants had actual notice of the sexual harassment and abuse. 

107. Defendant Brannen had actual knowledge of sexual harassment and abuse. 

108. Defendant Brannen, in his role as head coach, is an official of St. Edward High 

School who at a minimum had authority to address the harassment and abuse and to 

institute corrective measures on Plaintiff’s behalf. 

109. Defendant Brannen had actual knowledge of a substantial risk of sexual harassment 

and abuse. 
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110. Defendant Kubaki, in his role as President, is an official of St. Edward High School 

who at a minimum had authority to address the harassment and abuse and to institute 

corrective measures on Plaintiff’s behalf. 

111. Defendant Kubacki had actual knowledge of a substantial risk of sexual harassment 

and abuse. 

112. Defendant McKenna, in his role as Principal, is an official of St. Edward High School 

who at a minimum had authority to address the harassment and abuse and to institute 

corrective measures on Plaintiff’s behalf. 

113. Defendant McKenna had actual knowledge of a substantial risk of sexual harassment 

and abuse. 

114. St. Edward High School and the individual Defendants exercised substantial control 

over the harassers and abusers, as set forth in the Student Handbook of St. Edward 

High School which includes Discipline policies. 

115. St. Edward High School and the individual Defendants, at all times, maintained 

disciplinary authority over the students responsible for the harassment and assaults. 

116. St. Edward High School and the individual Defendants exercised substantial control 

over the harassers in the context in which the harassment and assaults occurred, to 

wit, they occurred at school-sponsored events, trips, and extracurricular activities. 

117. The harassment and assaults suffered by Plaintiff was severe, pervasive, and 

objectively offensive. 

118. The harassment and assaults suffered by Plaintiff caused him to withdraw from in-

person school and ultimately withdraw from St. Edward High School entirely.   
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119. The harassment and assaults suffered by Plaintiff harmed his grades, his athletics, and 

his overall quality of life. 

120. Plaintiff was denied educational access resulting from the harassment and assaults, 

and the subsequent retaliation. 

121. Defendants feigned an investigation, but instead instructed students to delete 

information relevant and critical to an investigation. 

122. Defendants knew or should have known that Plaintiff was discriminated against as a 

result of the sexual assaults, harassment, intimidation, and hostile environment caused 

by other students. 

123. Defendants knew or should have known that their deliberate indifference to the 

complaints of Plaintiff exacerbated the hostile environment . 

124. Defendants failed to carry out their duties and obligations pursuant to Title IX to 

investigate and take corrective action. 

125. Defendants permitted an educational and athletic environment in which 

discriminatory, harassing, and abusive practices occurred against Plaintiff that were 

sufficiently severe or pervasive to create an environment that was both subjectively 

and objectively hostile, abusive, and retaliatory. 

126. Defendants knew of and tolerated the sexually abusive educational and athletic 

environment, or, in the alternative, knew, or should have known, of its existence, yet 

failed to conduct proper investigations and failed to take remedial action. 

127. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants' unlawful actions or inactions, Plaintiff 

has suffered and will continue to suffer harm including, but not limited to, loss of 

educational opportunities, humiliation, embarrassment, reputational harm, emotional 
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and physical distress, mental anguish, and other economic and non-economic 

damages. 

128. Plaintiff is entitled to all legal and equitable remedies available for violations of Title 

IX, including compensatory damages, attorney's fees and costs, and other appropriate 

relief. 

COUNT TWO – TITLE IX RETALIATION 
(Retaliation in Violation of Title IX of the Education Amendments Act of 1972, 20 U.S.C. 

§ 1681 et seq. Against All Defendants) 
 

129. Plaintiff restates each of the foregoing allegations as if fully rewritten herein. 

130. Defendants have retaliated against Plaintiff in violation of Title IX by, inter alia, 

failing to properly investigate his claims of discrimination and sexual assault. 

131. In the course of their so-called investigation, Defendants deliberately provided 

sufficient information and directives to students to deduce that Plaintiff was the 

complaining party. 

132. In doing so, Defendants exacerbated the intimidation, hazing, and abusive treatment 

toward Plaintiff by the students. 

133. Defendants committed, caused, and/or aided and abetted the retaliatory conduct 

against Plaintiffs. 

134. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct in violation of Title 

IX, Plaintiff has suffered, and continues to suffer, harm for which he is entitled to an 

award of damages to the greatest extent permitted by law, including, but not limited 

to, monetary and/or economic harm. 

135. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful actions, Plaintiff has 

suffered and will continue to suffer harm including, but not limited to, loss of 

educational opportunities, humiliation, embarrassment, reputational harm, emotional 
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and physical distress, mental anguish, and other economic and non-economic 

damages. 

136. Plaintiff is entitled to all legal and equitable remedies available for violations of Title 

IX, including compensatory damages, attorney's fees and costs, and other appropriate 

relief 

COUNT FOUR – NEGLIGENCE 

137. Plaintiff restates each of the foregoing allegations as if fully rewritten herein. 

138. Defendants owed duties of care to Plaintiff including: 

a.  Protecting him from assaults, hazing, and/or bullying by other students; 

b. Protecting him from and otherwise supervising students who Defendants know, or 

should have known, to have a history of inappropriate sexual misconduct;  

c. Supervising students in school-sponsored extracurricular activities; 

d. Supervising students in school-sponsored athletics and athletic trips; 

e. Preventing student-on-student sexual assaults; 

f. Preventing student-on-student intimidation; 

g. Preventing social media abuse by other students; 

h. Properly investigating complaints of sexual abuse, hazing, bullying, harassment, 

and/or intimidation; 

i. Properly remedying instances of sexual abuse, hazing, bullying, harassment, 

and/or intimidation; 

j. Preventing retaliation against Plaintiff as a result of bringing a complaint to the 

Defendants’ attention. 
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139. Defendants breached the duties owed to Plaintiff as they failed to protect him from 

foreseeable harm; failed supervise students who they knew to have a history of 

inappropriate sexual misconduct; failed to supervise students in school-sponsored 

events; failed to prevent social media abuse, hazing, or bullying; failed to investigate 

or remedy claims of sexual abuse, hazing, bullying, harassment, and/or intimidation; 

and failed to prevent retaliation against Plaintiff. 

140. Defendants’ negligence caused Plaintiff harm physically, mentally, emotional, caused 

his grades to suffer, and caused him to withdraw from St. Edward High School. 

141. As a direct and proximate cause of Defendants’ negligence, Plaintiff has suffered and 

Plaintiff has suffered and will continue to suffer harm including, but not limited to, 

loss of educational opportunities, humiliation, embarrassment, reputational harm, 

emotional and physical distress, mental anguish, and other economic and non-

economic damages. 

142. The actions of Defendants were done willfully, maliciously, and/or with reckless 

disregard, and thereby subjects them to punitive and exemplary damages. 

COUNT THREE – NEGLIGENT HIRING, RETENTION, AND SUPERVISION 

143. Plaintiff restates each of the foregoing allegations as if fully rewritten herein. 

144. Defendant St. Edward High School hired Defendant McKenna and Defendant 

Brannen and placed them into a position of trust and responsibility. 

145. Defendant Brannen knew that Delinquent 1 had a history of engaging in inappropriate 

sexual misconduct or other inappropriate behavior when left unsupervised. 
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146. Defendant Brannen knew that he owed a duty of care to Plaintiff and the other 

students entrusted to him to protect them from foreseeable harm during school-

sponsored events. 

147. Defendant Brannen admittedly avoided and/or disregarded any care or supervision of 

the students and instead preferred only to coach track. 

148. When presented with video evidence of a sexual assault, Defendant Brannen owed a 

duty to investigate, remediate, and preserve information. 

149. Instead, Defendant Brannen attempted to dissuade further complaints about the sexual 

assault. 

150. Defendant Brannen instructed students to delete any evidence of the sexual assault or 

other information on their phones in advance of an investigation. 

151. Defendant Brannen’s actions were known, approved, and/or permitted by Defendant 

McKenna. 

152. Defendant McKenna had a duty of care to Plaintiff and the other students to 

investigate, remediate, and preserve information relating to student-on-student sexual 

assault, bullying, hazing, intimidation, and retaliation. 

153. Defendant McKenna knew that Defendant Brannen had instructed students to delete 

relevant information and that students were creating false stories to present in the 

investigation. 

154. Defendant McKenna assigned the internal St. Edward High School investigation to an 

individual who was wholly unprepared and lacked the knowledge, training, or skill to 

investigate claims of sexual abuse, bullying, hazing, intimidation and/or retaliation. 
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155. Knowing that Plaintiff and his family were relying upon the St. Edward High School 

investigation, Defendant McKenna deliberately misinformed them that the school was 

participating in a criminal investigation. 

156. The incidents complained of by Plaintiff were not the first or second instances of 

similar student-on-student misconduct during the employment of Defendants 

McKenna and/or Brannen. 

157. Defendant St. Edward High School knew or should have known that Defendants 

McKenna and Brannen were incompetent, incapable, undertrained, and/or unable to 

protect the Plaintiff or other students, or to adequately investigate and remedy 

complaints of sexual assault, hazing, bullying, intimidation and/or retaliation. 

158. Defendant St. Edward High School knew or should have known that Defendants 

McKenna and Brannen had a propensity and/or history of disregarding, failing to 

investigate, and/or failing to remediate complaints of student-on-student misconduct. 

159. Nonetheless, Defendant St. Edward High School has placed Defendants McKenna 

and Brannen in a position wherein they are responsible for preventing, investigation, 

and remedying student-on-student misconduct. 

160. As it pertains to Plaintiff, Defendants St. Edward High School, McKenna, and 

Brannen failed to prevent, investigate, or remedy student-on-student misconduct. 

161. Defendants’ negligence caused Plaintiff harm physically, mentally, emotional, and 

caused him to withdraw from St. Edward High School. 

162. As a direct and proximate cause of Defendants’ negligence, Plaintiff has suffered and 

Plaintiff has suffered and will continue to suffer harm including, but not limited to, 

loss of educational opportunities, humiliation, embarrassment, reputational harm, 
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emotional and physical distress, mental anguish, and other economic and non-

economic damages. 

163. The actions of Defendants were done willfully, maliciously, and/or with reckless 

disregard, and thereby subjects them to punitive and exemplary damages. 

COUNT FIVE – SPOLIATION OF EVIDENCE 

164. Plaintiff restates each of the foregoing allegations as if fully rewritten herein. 

165. Defendants knew or should have known that Plaintiff’s claims relating to sexual 

abuse, bullying, hazing, intimidation and/or retaliation would result or were likely to 

result in litigation by Plaintiff. 

166. Defendants willfully destroyed evidence and directed the students under their control 

to destroy evidence. 

167. The destroyed evidence included potential criminal evidence, including pedophilic 

images and videos, as well as evidence of the sexual assault, physical assault, 

bullying, hazing, and intimidation against Plaintiff. 

168. The destroyed evidence was designed to interfere with an investigation. 

169. Defendant were under a duty to preserve evidence that it knew or reasonably should 

have known was relevant to the claims. 

170. Plaintiff has been damaged by the destruction of evidence as it has prevented him 

from a complete investigation and preservation of his rights and remedies. 

171. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s spoliation of evidence, Plaintiff has 

suffered economic injuries in an amount to be determined at trial. 

172. The actions of Defendants were done willfully, maliciously, and/or with reckless 

disregard, and thereby subjects them to punitive and exemplary damages. 
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COUNT SIX–INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS 

173. Plaintiff restates each of the foregoing allegations as if fully rewritten herein. 

174. Defendants knew that Delinquent 1 was a problematic student, particularly in an 

unsupervised setting. 

175. Defendants allowed Delinquent 1 access to Plaintiff in an unsupervised setting, 

whereupon Plaintiff was physically assaulted in a sexual manner. 

176. That assault was witnessed, recorded and shared among students. 

177. When it was reported, Defendants attempted to dissuade, minimize, cover-up, and 

destroy information relevant to the complaint. 

178. The Defendants lied about their commitment to an investigation. 

179. Defendants neither investigated nor remedied the student-on-student assault, bullying, 

hazing, intimidation, and retaliation. 

180. Defendants placed Plaintiff in a position where he was required to have continued 

contact with the student who sexually assaulted him and the other students who 

mocked, intimidated, and retaliated against him. 

181. The Defendants’ conduct was outrageous. 

182. The Defendants’ conduct was either negligent, reckless, or intended to cause 

emotional distress to Plaintiff. 

183. As a result of Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiff suffered severe and debilitating physical 

and emotional distress, including vomiting, insomnia, anxiety, and other post-

traumatic stress. 
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184. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiff has suffered and 

will continue to suffer harm including, but not limited to emotional and physical 

distress, mental anguish, and other economic and non-economic damages. 

185. The actions of Defendants were done willfully, maliciously, and/or with reckless 

disregard, and thereby subjects them to punitive and exemplary damages. 

WHEREFORE, having fully pled each cause of action, Plaintiff respectfully 

request this Court enter judgment in his favor on   all causes of action and award the 

following relief: 

A. Monetary damages for the loss of educational opportunities, humiliation, 

embarrassment, reputational harm, emotional and physical distress, mental 

anguish, and other economic and non-economic damages; 

B. All legal and equitable remedies available for violations of Title IX, including 

compensatory damages, attorney's fees and costs, and other appropriate 

relief; 

C. Payment of all medical costs and tuition payments; 

D. Payment of costs of this action, together with reasonable attorney's fees 

and disbursements; 

E. Injunctive relief as this Court deems just and equitable; 
 

F. Punitive and exemplary damages; and 
 

G. Such further relief as this Court deems just and equitable. 
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Respectfully Submitted, 

/s/ Jeffrey C. Miller 
Jeffrey C. Miller (#0068882) 
Russell Rendall (#0089901) 
Donald W. Davis Jr. (#0030559) 
BRENNAN MANNA DIAMOND LLC 
200 Public Square, Suite 3270 
Cleveland, Ohio 44114 
P:  (216) 658-2155 
F:  (216) 658-2156 
E:  jcmiller@bmdllc.com 
     rtrendell@bmdllc.com 
     dwdavis@bmdllc.com 
   
 
 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 
 

Pursuant to Rule 38(b) Fed. R. Civ. P., Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury for 

any and all issues triable of right by a jury. 

Respectfully Submitted, 

/s/ Jeffrey C. Miller 
Jeffrey C. Miller (#0068882) 
Russell Rendall (#0089901) 
Donald W. Davis Jr. (#0030559) 
BRENNAN MANNA DIAMOND LLC 
200 Public Square, Suite 3270 
Cleveland, Ohio 44114 
P:  (216) 658-2155 
F:  (216) 658-2156 
E:  jcmiller@bmdllc.com 
     rtrendell@bmdllc.com 
     dwdavis@bmdllc.com 
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